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Sam (Topper) Brown and his staff. (Sam at the back)
(courtesy Mrs. Joyce Brown)

FISH AND CHIP SHOPS IN NUNEATON

By Victor Welland

Origins

Shops selling fried fish were in business in London during the 1850s, perhaps sooner, as a "fried fish warehouse" features in Charles Dickens's Oliver Twist (1838). Deep-fried slices of potato (chips) may have appeared about the same time as they are mentioned in his A Tale of Two Cities (1859) - "Husky chips of potatoes, fried with some reluctant drops of oil".

It is not known specifically when or where chipped potatoes began to be sold with fried fish, although Oldham lays claim to being home to the idea. Certainly in the 1870s Oldham's Faulkener Company was one of the earliest suppliers of gas fired flying ranges, and in the 1880s John Rouse made the first mobile chip range. In later years other companies produced ranges, potato peelers and chippers. Elsewhere, as many as two dozen businesses specialised in making machinery for the trade.

Joseph Malin's in Old Ford Road in East London was regarded, in 1968 when it was celebrating more than a century in business, as 'The World's Oldest Fish and Chip Business'. Outside London it is believed that the textile manufacturing areas around Oldham in Lancashire gave birth to the provincial popularity of the product. By the beginning of the twentieth century thousands of fish and chip shops existed, as many as 10,000 such businesses in 1907 had increased to about 30,000 by the end of the 1930s.

The majority of shops were run as 'single' or family businesses - 'chains' never amounted to much, although Samuel Isaacs (1856-1939) opened a restaurant in London in 1896, the popularity of which resulted in his opening several establishments in the south of England (Isaacs's rather 'corny' advertising trademark claimed that "This is the Plaice"!) and it was as late as the 1990s that the Harry Ramsden (1888-1963) firm expanded its trade, although the original Yorkshire shop opened in 1928. Most early establishments were conducted in 'cottage industry' style with the front room of a house being the shop, the back where preparations were performed and living quarters above. In Edwardian times the usual cost was a penny for fish and a halfpenny for chips. By 1935 prices varied in regional areas but even as late as the 1950s a bag of chips cost only 3dor6d.

For a long time fish and chips had a lowly image as middle-class observers noted the popularity of it among the inhabitants of the working class districts. During the 1890s many local associations were developed to represent the interests of shopkeepers but it was not until 1913 that the National Federation of Fish Fryers was created. Eventually the meal became accepted by the middle-classes too and after the First World War it was available in restaurants, hotels and department stores. In the early years of the twenty- first century it was calculated that more than 8,000 fish and chips shops were in business, being predominantly popular in industrial areas as an accepted and enjoyable part of every day life.

The First Fish and Chip Shops in Nuneaton

An 1896 directory lists only one Fried Fish Bar in Nuneaton. However, customers were buying fish to cook themselves as several fishmongers are listed. Among these is Blythe Brothers at 2 Arbury Road. The address was later designated 2 Queens Road and a 1912 directory shows it as the business of Alexander Wilfred Barnsley. Eventually the business came into the hands of the Coleman family who traded there for several decades before redevelopment of the site in the 1970s forced them to Stratford Street where they continued to trade in the 21 st. century.

In 1901 the following advertisement appeared in the Nuneaton Chronicle:

MILL STREET, BEDWORTH

W.TABERER

Has received instructions from Mr James Penn

TO SELL BY PUBLIC AUCTION

ON WEDNESDAY JANUARY 30th

A FRIED FISH and CHIP POTATO VAN (nearly

new) with Potato Peeler, Iron Fish Pan and

Fire Bars, Trays, Cans and other accessories all

complete, in perfect order.

AGED PONY (good worker) Heavy Cart and

Harness, Iron Pig Trough, ladder and sundries.

Sale at two o'clock.

Note.- The van is in excellent condition, pur-

chased new two years ago at great expense. A

good living may be made by anyone with this

business, which Mr Penn is obliged to give up on

account of ill-health.

Auctioneer's Office, 'Enterprise House' Nuneaton

By this time clearly the fish and chip business had taken off. Not only were such portable vans selling the product but many more shops had been opened. In 1904 Edward Sidwell's business at 44 Church Street was still the only fish and chip business in Nuneaton although there was a couple of dozen in Coventry. Sidwell had been a fishmonger in Back Street in the 1870s before removing to 9 Abbey Street a decade or so later. By 1912 however, Sidwell's establishment in Church Street was closed, although his son Arthur was a fishmonger next door at 43 Church Street. At this time nearly two dozen fried fish and chip shops traded in Nuneaton and surrounding area. 

These were situated at:

62 Asbury Road, Stockingford (Peter Warren) 

12 Bond Gate (John Marston)

17 Bridge Street, Coton (Richard Josiah Smith) 

279 Church Road, Stockingford (Josh Jones) 

5 Coton Road (Walter J Timbrell)

73 Abbey Street* (Francis Palladino)

12 Bond Gate* (Number 11 in 1933 Directory) - Edward Goadley

8a Bond Street* (George Handley)

9 Midland Road* (Albert Joseph Everton) 

70 Midland Road (Chris Beck) 

42 Queens Road* (Samuel Ensor) 

66 Queens Road (John William Northall)

77 Queens Road (Thomas Boffin) 

120 Queens Road* (Nora Bromley) 

157 Queens Road (Walter Nicholls)

Stratford Street* (William Payne)

 49 Toler Road (George Grampton)

17 Upper Abbey Street* (Winifred McDonagh)

Coton

17 Bridge Street* (Richard Josiah Smith) 

5 Coton Road* (Henry Bannister)

96 Coton Road, Coton (Ernest Southern)

190 Edward Street* (Ernest William Southern) 484 Heath End (John Simpson)

41 Windsor Street* (Ernest Marshall)

Attleborough

Bull Street, Attleborough (Joseph Kirkland) 

41 Attleborough Road* (Mrs William Whitmore)

65 Attleborough Road* (Charles Paxton)

10 Bull Street* (William Hall)

61 Gadsby Street* (Samuel Neal) 

128 Gadsby Street (James Green)

153 Gadsby Street* (Ernest Mockford) 

272 Gadsby Street (Frank Booton) 

24 The Green (Charles Marston)

Stockingford

62 Arbury Road* (John Insull)

279 Church Road* (Ernest Charles Hyatt)

133 Croft Road (George Liggins)

335 Croft Road* (Willoughby Wilkins)

13 Haunchwood Road* (John Wailbank)

66 Haunchwood Road (Fishmongers in 1912 - Thomas Smith)

4 Tomkinson Road* (Number 2 in 1933 Directory - Alfred Whitmore & Son) 

27 Webb Street* (Mary Ann Scoftham)
















